1993

Hidden Valley Coal Company v. Utah Board of Oil, Gas, and Mining, Utah Division of Oil, Gas, and Mining : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(e)(iv) (1992) and Utah Code Ann. § 40-10-30 (3) (1986).

ISSUES PRESENTED

The issues presented for consideration by the Court are:

1. Has the Board erroneously interpreted and applied UCMRA in its finding that the Division established a *prima facie* case supporting with substantial evidence its issuance of the NOV and that HVCC failed to rebut the Division's case?
2. Has the Board erroneously interpreted and applied UCMRA and Utah law in its finding that the Division was not estopped in the enforcement of its NOV after it had repeatedly found the Mine Site to be in compliance and had approved HVCC's reclamation activities for a Phase I bond release?
3. Has the Board erroneously interpreted and misapplied Utah Code Ann. § 40-8-9(2) (1987) and Utah Code Ann. § 40-10-4 (1979) and the rules promulgated thereunder in its determination that a two-year statute of limitations did not apply to bar the issuance of the NOV?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review is statutory. Appeals taken from an order of the Board of Oil, Gas and Mining under Title 40 Chapter 10 is on the record and not a trial *de novo*. Utah Code Ann. § 40-10-30 (1986). The court shall set aside the Board action if it is found to be:

- (a) unreasonable, unjust, arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion;

- (b) contrary to a constitutional right, power, privilege, or immunity;
- (c) in excess of statutory jurisdiction, authority, or limitations;
- (d) not in compliance with procedure required by law;
- (e) based on a clearly erroneous interpretation or application of the law; or
- (f) as to an adjudicative proceeding, unsupported by substantial evidence on the record.

Id.

Further, *Cowling v. Bd. of Oil, Gas and Mining*, 830 P.2d 220 (Utah 1991) recently held that "[w]hen a lower court reviews an order of an administrative agency and we exercise appellate review of the lower court's judgment, we act as if we were reviewing the administrative agency decision directly." *Id.* at 223. If the reviewing court is reviewing an issue of law, a "correction-of-error standard" is applied, to which the agency's conclusions are not extended deference. *Gottfredson v. Utah State Retirement Bd.*, 808 P.2d 153, 154 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND RULES

The applicable statutes are contained in:

- (1) Utah Code Ann. § 40-10-1 *et seq.*, (Utah Coal Mining Reclamation Act, "UCMRA");

(2) Utah Admin. R. 614-1A; (Chapter I. UMC Regulations Pertaining To Surface Effects of Underground Coal Mining Activities (1991)); Utah Admin. R. 614-300 - R. 614-402 (1991);

(3) Utah Code Ann. § 40-8-1 *et seq.* (Utah Mined Land Reclamation Act);

(4) Utah Admin. R. 613-1-101 *et seq.* through Utah Admin. R. 613-5-111 (1991) (regulations under the Utah Mined Land Reclamation Act);

(5) 30 U.S.C. § 1201 *et seq.* (Surface Mining Coal Reclamation Act, "SMCRA");
and

(6) 30 C.F.R. Part 700 *et seq.* (1991) (regulations under SMCRA).

These statutes and regulations are reproduced in full in Addendum "A" through Addendum "G," attached hereto.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

This is a case of first impression under the Utah Coal Mining and Reclamation Act ("UCMRA"). Utah Code Ann. § 40-10-1 *et seq.* It involves HVCC's challenge to the Division's issuance of an NOV and civil penalties against it. The Division action was upheld by the Board on administrative review and, in part, by the Third Judicial District Court on judicial review. This appeal seeks appellate review of the Board Order against HVCC. This appeal is a review on the record rather than a trial de novo. Utah Code Ann. § 40-10-30 (1986).

B. Course of Proceedings Below and Disposition at the Agency.

On November 20, 1991, the Division issued Notice of Violation number 91-26-8-2, Parts 1 and 2 ("NOV") relating to reclamation activities at the Hidden Valley Mine ("the Mine Site") to HVCC. R.64-66; *see* Addendum "H." On December 17, 1991, the Division issued a proposed penalty assessment for the NOV of \$760.00 for Part 1 and \$460.00 for Part 2.

The NOV and the penalty assessment were informally reviewed by the Division on December 20, 1991 and an informal order upholding the NOV and penalty was issued on January 17, 1992. Utah Admin. R. 614-401-760 (1991). R.40-49; *see* Addendum "H." Under the rules of the Division, this informal order cannot be used as a basis for upholding the NOV or assessment on appeal. Utah Admin. R. 614-401-762 (1991).

On February 10, 1992, HVCC initiated an administrative appeal of the NOV and the assessment to the Board of Oil, Gas & Mining. HVCC paid the total penalty into escrow pending administrative review. On that same day, HVCC filed a petition with the Board for temporary relief from the abatement action ordered by the NOV. The Board granted temporary relief, extending the time for abatement to thirty days following the Board's entry of its written decision on the matter. On June 30, 1992, an evidentiary hearing was held. HVCC challenged the factual basis, jurisdiction and legal authority for issuance of the NOV and the penalty assessment. Both the Division and HVCC presented evidence and testimony to the Chairman of the Board acting as hearing examiner. On July 30, 1992, after considering the hearing examiner's proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law, the Board issued an Order

upholding the Division in its issuance of both parts of the NOV and the total penalty assessed for Part 1. R.432-438; *see* Addendum "J." The penalty assessment for Part 2 of the NOV was reduced from \$460 to \$330.

On August 27, 1992, HVCC filed an appeal for judicial review of the Board's Order to the Third District Court under Utah Code Ann. § 40-10-30 (1986). Despite HVCC's timely appeal, on September 3, 1992 the Division issued a Cessation Order ("CO") against HVCC's parent company requiring abatement action under the NOV. *See* Addendum "K." On September 3, 1992, HVCC requested the Board to issue an emergency order to preserve the *status quo* while HVCC sought judicial review. On September 9, 1992, the Board stayed the CO from date of issuance until September 10, 1992 to enable HVCC to seek appropriate judicial remedies or commence abatement action.

On September 11, 1992, the Third District Court issued a Temporary Restraining Order. After further hearing on September 30, 1992, this Court entered an order from the bench staying enforcement of the NOV and the CO pending judicial review of HVCC's appeal.

On October 29, 1992, the Third District Court, Honorable Glenn K. Iwasaki presiding, heard oral argument on the appeal issues which had been fully briefed by the parties. On November 5, 1992, that Court entered an Order upholding the Division with respect to the entire NOV except for the violation for failure to place perimeter markers, which the Court overturned. Addendum "L."

HVCC now appeals the Board's Order under Utah Code Ann. § 40-10-30 (1986). The Board's findings are not supported by substantial evidence. Notwithstanding the lack of evidence, the Division was estopped by its own conduct from violating HVCC for Mine Site conditions. A two-year statute of limitations barred Division action against HVCC.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. Defendants, the Utah Board of Oil Gas and Mining ("the Board") and the Utah Division of Oil, Gas & Mining ("the Division") are agencies of the Utah Department of Natural Resources, created and authorized under Utah Code Ann. § 40-6-1 *et seq.*, Utah Code Ann. § 40-8-1 *et seq.* and Utah Code Ann. § 40-10-1 *et seq.*

2. Plaintiff Hidden Valley Coal Company ("HVCC") is a Utah corporation which owns a coal property in Emery County, Utah, hereinafter referred to as the "Mine Site." (Permit No. ACT/015/007).

3. The Mine Site is located in a desert area with a "low annual rainfall making establishment of vegetation and top soil very difficult. There is a lot of exposed rock geographically. "The weather patterns are such that [the Mine Site gets] very infrequent severe rainfall." R.1195-1197. "The whole area [around the Mine Site], both the disturbed and undisturbed area[s], is basically void of vegetation." R.1195-1197.

4. In 1978 or 1979, HVCC's affiliate, Soldier Creek Coal Company, acquired the Mine Site and performed various analyses on the property to determine the feasibility of developing the Mine Site into a commercially viable coal mine. R.1146-1148.

5. The Mine Site has never been operated as a commercial venture. In fact, by August of 1980, it became evident to Soldier Creek that the commercial development of the Mine Site was not economically feasible and further development at the mine ceased. R.396-397; R.1147-1152. The minutes of the September 9, 1980 meeting of the Soldier Creek Management Committee reflect that the Company voted to temporarily suspend further development of the Mine. R.288-292.

6. In October, 1985, HVCC informed the Division of the sale of Soldier Creek and assumption of control of the Mine Site by HVCC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of California Portland Cement Company, and of the continuing responsibility of California Portland Cement Company for reclamation under the Interim Program. R.280. HVCC also advised the Division of its intent to reclaim the Mine. R.279.

7. On May 28, 1986, HVCC submitted a reclamation plan under the Permanent Program for review by the Division. *See* Addendum "M."

8. On December 12, 1986, the Division issued a final permit approval for reclamation of the Mine Site under the Permanent Program ("Reclamation Plan").

9. HVCC reclaimed the Mine Site in 1986. R.1153; R.1121.

10. Pursuant to the Reclamation Plan, HVCC contracted to have the site regraded, scarified and reseeded. R.1153.

11. Since 1986, HVCC has "conformed with all requests that have been made . . . to reclaim the property in the manner that was specified. [HVCC has] responded to all

suggestions for maintenance and basically done everything the Division has ever asked . . . since the site was initially reclaimed in [19]86." R.1157.

12. A Division memorandum dated June 1, 1988 indicates that a bond release inspection was conducted on May 24, 1988 and specifically states that "the access road, from the end of the paved county road to the mine site, was ripped, water bars constructed, and seeded and mulched." R.267.

13. Effective June 1, 1988, the Division approved a Phase I bond release for the Mine, reducing the reclamation bond by approximately 60% from \$ 171,515.00 to \$ 68,606.00 based upon completion of backfilling, grading, topsoil placement and reseeding in accordance with the approved reclamation plan. R.266.

14. By letter dated July 16, 1988 from the Division to HVCC, the Division states: "As a result of this inspection, the backfilling, grading, topsoil placement and drainage controls were determined complete." R.266. By letter dated June 16, 1988 from the Division to Emery County the Division states: "The reclamation bond will be reduced from \$171,515 to \$68,606 because backfilling, grading, installations of drainage controls and revegetation have all been done at the site." R.265. By letter dated July 17, 1988 from the Division to St. Paul Fire Insurance Company the Division states that HVCC's bond at the Mine may be reduced to \$68,606, due to the Phase I bond release. R.264.

15. At the time of the Phase I bond release, HVCC was in compliance at the Mine Site with the reclamation plan and all rules and regulations for that phase of reclamation work. R.1174; R.1110-1111; R.1125-1131.

16. The Division has inspected the Mine Site at least fifty-nine (59) different times since 1987. R.1183; R.1250; R.804-954; *see* Addendum "N". The Division's Inspection Reports always find the Mine Site to be in full compliance.

17. Prior to November 19, 1991, the Division made no indication whatsoever that any violation existed with respect to the Mine Site or the Reclamation Plan. R.1158-1159; R.1232-1233.

18. In fact, in April, 1991, William J. Malencik, a Reclamation Specialist for the Division, inspected the Mine Site. At that time the conditions at the Mine Site did not constitute a violation of any kind. R.1029-1037; R.935-936.

19. Again in May, 1991, William J. Malencik, a Reclamation Specialist for the Division, inspected the Mine Site. At that time the conditions at the Mine Site did not constitute a violation of any kind. R.1029-1037. In fact, "[o]n site conditions were substantially the same as covered in the previous inspection dated 4/20/91." R.937-938.

20. From 1987 - 1991 there has been insignificant, insubstantial change in the erosion conditions at the Mine Site. R.1192.

21. From 1987 - 1991 there have been no changes whatsoever in the placement of perimeter markers in disturbed areas. R.1232-1233.

22. Up to and until at least November 1, 1991, the Division records the Mine Site as in "good condition." R.952-954.

23. On or about November 19, 1991, the Division conducted another inspection of the Mine Site. R.955-957. On November 22, 1991, Notice of Violation 91-26-8-2 ("NOV") was issued by the Division to HVCC relating to reclamation of the mine access road. R.64-66; *see* Addendum "H." Part 1 of 2 alleges failure to maintain the stability of diversions and failure to minimize erosion to the extent possible under Utah Admin. R. 614-301-742.312.1 and 614-301-742.113 as to the road outslope and upslope. R.65. Part 2 of 2 was written for failure to clearly mark with perimeter markers all disturbed areas and failure to seed and revegetate all disturbed areas, under Utah Admin. R. 614-301-521.251 and 614-301-354 with respect to the road and stream disturbed outslopes and road upslopes. R.64.

24. The NOV was issued notwithstanding the fact that the conditions at the Mine Site have remained unchanged since 1986, since the bond release, and since at least fifty-nine (59) prior inspections.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Board's findings which upheld the November 22, 1991 Notice of Violation were not based upon substantial evidence on the record and therefore should be reversed. The Division simply did not provide testimony or evidence to support its issuance of the NOV to Hidden Valley. There was virtually no testimony regarding the stability of diversions or the placement of perimeter markers. The Division did introduce testimony in support of its allegation that

erosion was occurring at the Mine Site, but did not produce substantial evidence, especially in light of other evidence and testimony at the hearing. Under the Administrative Rules, the Division had to show that HVCC did not minimize erosion *to the extent possible*. The Division did not make this showing. In addition, the Division did not show by substantial evidence that HVCC failed to reseeded disturbed areas. In fact, HVCC has reseeded disturbed areas and the Division has approved this action. The Division's testimony on this consisted of one man's *visual* observations. HVCC has reseeded to the extent possible. Since there was not substantial evidence to support the Division's Order of July 30, 1992, the Board's Order was in error.

Further, the Board erred when it found that the Division was not equitably estopped from violating HVCC with respect to the environmental conditions at the Mine Site. The Division gave HVCC fifty-nine (59) verbal and written representations that they were in compliance with all permit and performance standards. The Division released part of the reclamation bond. The Division told HVCC that the Mine Site was in "good condition." Notwithstanding all of these representations, the Division issued the NOV to HVCC without a change in environmental conditions or the law. HVCC relied on the representations of compliance and will be damaged by the enforcement of the NOV and CO against them. Therefore, the Board erred when it found that the Division was not estopped from issuing the NOV.

There is also a two-year statute of limitations that applies under UCMRA. However, the Board failed to apply this statute to the Division's enforcement action. This was an error of law and should be reviewed by this Court giving no deference to the Board's finding. Testimony

was introduced by HVCC which established that the statute existed and that Division has applied this statute in the past. Therefore, the statute of limitations should have been applied to bar the Division's NOV in this case.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DIVISION HAS NOT ESTABLISHED A *PRIMA FACIE* CASE IN SUPPORT OF ITS NOV.

The Division bears the burden of proof and must prove a *prima facie* case establishing the fact of the NOV and regarding its jurisdiction to issue the NOV. Similarly, the Division has the burden of establishing a *prima facie* case in support of its penalty assessment. R.967-968. *Intersouth Mineral v. OSM*, IBLA 89-248 (Feb. 19, 1991).¹ Only after the Division has made a *prima facie* showing does the focus of the proceeding shift to HVCC to carry the burden of persuasion regarding its defense. *Rith Energy, Inc. v. OSMRE*, 119 IBLA 83 (1991). In this case, the burden never shifted to HVCC due to the Division's failure to support its NOV with substantial evidence.

A. The Division Did Not Establish Part 1 of Its NOV.

The NOV in issue, NOV 91-26-8-2² was issued in two parts. Part 1 of the NOV was issued for:

- (a) failure to maintain diversions to be stable; and

¹All cases not found in Pacific Reporter, Federal Reporter, Federal Supplement or United States Reports are reproduced in order of citation in Addendum "O," attached hereto.

² See Addendum "H."

(b) failure to minimize erosion to the extent possible.

R.65. These violations were issued pursuant to Utah Admin. R. 614-301-742.312.1 (1991) and 614-301-742.113 (1991) and pertained to the road outslope and upslope. R.65.

1. Substantial Evidence was Not Introduced by the Division that the Diversions at the Mine Site were Unstable.

At the June 30, 1992 administrative hearing, the Division did not introduce any evidence that the diversions at the Mine Site were unstable. There is an utter lack of evidence in the record regarding diversions *except* for testimony presented by HVCC that diversions exist at the Mine Site which are stable. R.1200.

Utah Admin. R. 614-301-742.312.1 (1991) requires only that "[t]he diversion and its appurtenant structures will be designed, located, constructed, maintained and used to: . . . Be stable." Since no Division testimony was presented regarding stability, and no Division testimony refuted HVCC's evidence that the diversions are stable, there is not *any* evidence to support the Board's finding which upheld this portion of the NOV.

2. Substantial Evidence was Not Introduced by the Division that HVCC Failed to Minimize Erosion to the Extent Possible.

The Division introduced the following testimony that HVCC failed to minimize erosion at the Mine Site to the extent possible:

- * HVCC took "some steps" to minimize erosion which were not enough. R.989.
- * HVCC *could have taken* other steps to minimize erosion such as riprapping the channel and placing rock gabbions. R.1003-1004; 1247.

- * HVCC did not place "sufficient" soil and rocks into the gullies to minimize erosion. R.1011.
- * It is not impossible to control erosion at the Mine Site. R.1243.
- * The cutting of the access road increased the potential for erosion. R.992.³

This evidence is not substantial evidence. Substantial evidence is "such relevant evidence as reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." *Johnson v. Bd. of Review*, 198 Utah Adv. Rep. 67, 68 (Oct. 23, 1992) (quoting *Grace Drilling Co. v. Bd. of Review*, 776 P.2d 63, 68 (Utah Ct. App. 1989)). The evidence that the Division introduced to support the NOV cannot support a conclusion that HVCC did not implement "[a]ppropriate sediment control measures . . . designed, constructed and maintained using the best technology currently available to: . . . Minimize erosion to the extent possible." Utah Admin. R. 614-301-742.113 (1991). In fact, both the Division and HVCC introduced testimony which *discounts* a violation of Utah Admin. R. 614-301-742.113 (1991). This evidence includes:

- * The existing soil type at the Mine Site increases the likelihood of erosion. R.995. Accelerated erosion is caused by slope, lack of vegetation, amount of precipitation and high intensity runoff. R.1022-1023.
- * HVCC placed angular riprap rock at the top of the ephemeral drainage at the Mine Site to minimize erosion. R.1002; 1005.
- * HVCC placed a small rock check dam at the crest of the slope at the Mine Site to minimize erosion. R.1008.

³ The access road was constructed in 1980. R.674. The fact that the existence of the access road accelerates erosion is not helpful to the Division's burden since the Division allowed the access road to remain pursuant to HVCC's 1986 Reclamation Plan. R.1018. Furthermore, the road construction itself was approved by the Division. R.1023.

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