1993

# Hidden Valley Coal Company v. Utah Board of Oil, Gas & Mining and the Utah Division of Oil, Gas and Mining : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

As a threshold issue, Hidden Valley's appeal is moot because Hidden Valley has complied with the underlying violation by filing an abatement plan and agreeing to abate the violations at the mine. Similarly, Hidden Valley should be estopped from rescinding its commitment to abate the violations.

The evidence clearly supports the findings of the Board and the Third District Court that Hidden Valley was in violation of UMCRA's environmental performance standards at the mine.

The Board and Third District Court also properly determined that the two year statute of limitation period of the Utah Mined Land Reclamation Act is not incorporated into the UMCRA.

Finally, the Board and Third District Court also correctly determined that the Division was not estopped from taking enforcement action at the mine when the Division determined that Hidden Valley was in violation of UMCRA's performance standards and the terms of its own Reclamation Plan.

The proposed work will begin no later than April 1, 1993, and as soon as practical after approval has been obtained, materials have been received, and environmental conditions are acceptable.

Addendum "O" at page 2.

Hidden Valley committed to seed the outcrops as follows:

The Revegetation work will be accomplished when soil conditions permit. Those acceptable soil conditions are defined as less than 10 percent snow cover, frost free in the upper six inches, and sufficiently dry in the upper six inches to not clod when worked. If conditions do not permit seeding by February 1, 1993, an alternative seed mix to that listed below will be submitted for Division approval.

Addendum "O" at 7.

The Division approved Hidden Valley's Abatement Plan on December 19, 1992, and modified the NOV to extend the dates for compliance to conform with the promised dates agreed to in the Hidden Valley Abatement Plan.

#### ARGUMENT

I. HIDDEN VALLEY'S APPEAL IS MOOT BECAUSE IT AGREED TO ABATE THE NOV

It is a basic principle that compliance with an enforcement order moots an appeal of any underlying issues. See, e.g., Keyes v. School District No. 1, Denver, Colo., 895 F.2d 659, 663-664 (10th Cir.), cert. denied, 111 S. Ct. 951 (1990) (An appeal from an order requiring the defendant to submit "plans" was rendered moot because the defendant had fully complied with the order.); Olson v. U.S., 872 F.2d 820, 823 (8th Cir. 1989) ("[A] taxpayer's submission of materials in compliance with an IRS summons renders moot any constitutional objections to compelled submissions."); Butcher v. Bailey, 753 F.2d 465, 471 (6th Cir.

1985)(Compliance with an order requiring the debtor to turn over records mooted an appeal claiming privilege against self-incrimination.); U.S. v. Kis, 658 F.2d 526, 532-535 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 455 U.S. 1018 (1981)(Compliance with an IRS summons by providing certain documents mooted taxpayer's appeal from the enforcement order.); Van Schaack Holdings, Ltd. v. Fulenwider, 798 P.2d 424, 426-427 (Colo. 1990)(An appeal from an order directing dissolution of a corporation was mooted by dissolution of the corporation pending appeal.).

When the Division issued the NOV on November 20, 1991, it required Hidden Valley to submit an abatement plan demonstrating how it would control erosion and seed the outslopes of the access road. In the final and approved submittal of Hidden Valley's Abatement Plan, Hidden Valley agreed to implement erosion control measures by "not later than April 1, 1993," and agreed to "seed the outslopes of the access roads when soil conditions permit." Addendum O, at 2 and 7.

Since Hidden Valley has complied with the original terms of the NOV by submitting an Abatement Plan, and has committed to commence remedial work, Hidden Valley's appeal is now moot. Accordingly, this Court must dismiss Hidden Valley's appeal.

II. HIDDEN VALLEY IS ESTOPPED FROM REFUSING TO IMPLEMENT ITS ABATEMENT PLAN BECAUSE IT AGREED TO ABATE THE VIOLATIONS.

Hidden Valley is estopped from refusing to abate the violations. The Utah Supreme Court has set forth the elements of estoppel as follows:

Conduct by one party which leads another, in reliance thereon, to adopt a course of action resulting in detriment or damage if the first party is permitted to repudiate his conduct.

Blackhurst v. Transamerica Ins. Co., 699 P.2d 688 (Utah 1985).

See also Perkins v. Great West Life Assurance Co., 814 P.2d 1125 (Utah App. 1991). Each element will be discussed below.

A. The Conduct of Hidden Valley.

On October 29, 1992, Hidden Valley submitted an Abatement Plan "to satisfy the violations under NOV N91-26-8-2." See Addendum "M." At that time, Hidden Valley announced its intent to resolve the NOV. Indeed, Hidden Valley's attorney expressly stated to the Division that "I can assure you that neither myself nor my client have any tricks up our sleeves for which the Division should have any concerns." See Addendum "L." In the final and approved version of the Abatement Plan, Hidden Valley agreed to implement erosion control measures by "not later than April 1, 1993," and agreed to "seed the outcrops of the access roads when soil conditions permit." See Addendum "O" at 2 and 7.

B. The Division's Reliance on Hidden Valley's Conduct.

When the Third District Court upheld the Board's Order on November 5, 1992, the Division was statutorily authorized to issue a cessation order because the environmental violations remained unabated. See Utah Code Ann. § 40-10-22(1)(c) and Utah Admin. R. 645-400-314. However, based on the representation of Hidden Valley's counsel and Hidden Valley's submission of an Abatement Plan, the Division did not issue a cessation order. Instead, the Division granted Hidden Valley an extended period of



time within which to finalize its Abatement Plan. See Addendum "N." When Hidden Valley committed to implement erosion control measures by "not later than April 1, 1993," and committed to "seed the outslopes of the access roads when soil conditions permit," the Division relied on Hidden Valley's commitment and modified the NOV to extend the dates for compliance to conform with the dates set forth in the Abatement Plan.

C. Detriment to the State and Environment.

If Hidden Valley is allowed to revoke its commitment to implement abatement procedures, erosion will continue at the mine site, another planting season will be missed, and the environment will continue to suffer. See R. at 998-999, 1000-1002, 1006, 1007-1008. Attached as Addendum "H." See also Affidavit of William Malencik, attached as Addendum "P"; Affidavit of Susan White, attached as Addendum "Q."

If seeding does not take place within the next few weeks, there will be insufficient soil moisture to assure successful revegetation until the next planting season. See Affidavit of Susan White, attached as Addendum "Q." In the meantime, lack of seed on the disturbed areas will allow further loss of topsoil through sheet, rill and gully erosion. This limited topsoil is required for successful revegetation. Accordingly, if Hidden Valley does not seed in the very near future, the potential for successful revegetation will be diminished. Id.

If Hidden Valley fails to mitigate erosion on the outslopes of the access roads, uncontrolled runoff will continue from the

road onto the outslope and will facilitate continued gully erosion, and the consequent deepening and widening of the erosion channels. R. at 998-999, 1000-1002, 1006, 1007-1008. Attached at Addendum "H." See also Affidavit of William Malencik, attached as Addendum "P." Further deposition of sediment into Ivie Creek, a tributary of the Colorado River drainage system, will also continue. Id. Finally, erosion will result in additional soil loss which will reduce the potential for the effective revegetation of the mine site. Id.

Hidden Valley should be held to its word, and required to implement abatement procedures at the mine.

III. HIDDEN VALLEY HAS FAILED TO MARSHALL THE EVIDENCE.

A party challenging the factual findings of an administrative agency must "marshall all of the evidence supporting the findings and show that despite the supporting facts, the agency's findings are not supported by substantial evidence." Boston First Nat. Bank v. County Board of Equalization of Salt Lake County, 799 P.2d 1163 (Utah 1990). "The marshalling requirement is equally applicable under the substantial evidence test." Heinecke v. Department of Commerce, 810 P.2d 459 at n.8 (Utah App. 1991). See also Grace Drilling Co. v. Board of Review of Industrial Commission of Utah, 776 P.2d 63, 68 (Utah App. 1989); Adams v. Board of Review of Indus. Com'n, 776 P.2d 639, 641 (Utah App. 1989). This Court has explained the rule as follows:

Our insistence on compliance with the marshalling requirement is not a case of exalting hypertechnical adherence to form over substance. A reviewing court is entitled to have the issues clearly defined with pertinent authority cited and is not simply a depository in which the appealing party may dump the burden of argument and research. The marshalling requirement provides the appellate court the basis from which to conduct a meaningful review of facts challenged on appeal.

See State v. Larsen, 828 P.2d 487, 491 (Utah App. 1992).

Failure to marshal the evidence will result in the reviewing court affirming the agency's findings of fact:

[Appellant] argued only selected evidence favorable to [his] position, without presenting any of the evidence supporting the trial court's findings. [Appellant's] approach does not begin to meet the marshalling burden [he] must carry. Because [Appellant] failed to marshal evidence in support of the trial court's findings and show how they are clearly erroneous, we affirm the factual findings of the trial court.

State v. Larsen, 828 P.2d at 491 (citations omitted).

Because Hidden Valley has argued only selective evidence favorable to its position, and more often than not attempted to distort to Record, the factual findings of the Board must be affirmed.<sup>6</sup>

---

<sup>6</sup> One of Hidden Valley's many attempts to misconstrue the record can be found at page 6 of its Brief. There, Hidden Valley contends that "[t]he Division introduced minimal, weak evidence regarding the seeding and vegetation at the Mine Site. This evidence consisted of testimony that William Malencik, the Division Reclamation Specialist, made a "visual inspection" of the Mine Site and did not see any seeds. R.1014." Brief of Appellant at 6. Hidden Valley not only fails to fairly characterize the testimony of Mr. Malencik, see R. at 1014-1017, but fails to inform this Court of the admissions of Hidden Valley's own witnesses that the outcrops of the access road were never seeded. R. at 1237, 1240, 1165-1166, and 1174. As Joe Jarvis, Hidden Valley's consultant testified:

IV. THE DIVISION ESTABLISHED A PRIMA FACIE CASE.

Contrary to the unsupported assertions of Hidden Valley, the Division clearly established a prima facie case that Hidden Valley was in violation of the relevant performance standards.<sup>7</sup>

A. Erosion on the Out slopes.

The Board upheld part one of the NOV finding that Hidden Valley "failed to comply with the Permanent Program standards and the approved Reclamation Plan by failing to adequately construct

---

Q. Are you aware of a regulation that requires the seeding and revegetation of all disturbed areas.

A. Yes.

Q. Were the out slopes which you have testified as disturbed areas, have they ever been seeded and have they been revegetated?

A. They're not seeded, they're not revegetated.

R. at 1237. Attached as Addendum "J."

<sup>7</sup> In a proceeding concerning a petition for review of an NOV, "[t]he ultimate burden of persuasion as to the fact of the violation rests with the petitioner for review." Intersouth Mineral Co. Inc. v. OSMRE, 118 IBLA 14, 17 (1991). See also Rith Energy, Inc. v. OSMRE, 119 IBLA 83, 86 (1991). The Division does have the burden of going forward to establish a prima facie case as to the fact of the violation. Rith Energy, Inc. v. OSMRE, 119 IBLA 83, 86 (1991); Intersouth Mineral Co., Inc. v. OSMRE, 118 IBLA 14, 17 (1991); Turner Brothers, Inc. v. OSMRE, 98 IBLA 395, 398 (1987); Calvert and Marsh Coal Co. v. OSMRE, 95 IBLA 182, 191 (1987). "A prima facie case is made when sufficient evidence is presented to establish the essential facts and which will justify, but not compel, a finding" of violation. S&M Coal Co. v. OSMRE, 79 IBLA 350, 91 I.D. 159, 161 (1984). If the Division's evidence is not overcome by a preponderance of the evidence, the NOV will be affirmed. Id. at 86; Innovative Development of Energy, Inc. v. OSMRE, 110 IBLA 119, 123 (1989); Coal Energy, Inc. v. OSMRE, 105 IBLA 385, 387-88 (1988); Turner Brothers Inc. v. OSMRE, 95 IBLA 182, 191 (1987). See also 43 CFR 4.1171(b).

and maintain erosion control structures on the outslope of the access haul road." R. at 436, 438.<sup>8</sup> The Board's decision was based on the testimony of the Division's inspector, William Malencik, that uncontrolled erosion was occurring at three specific areas on the outslopes of the access road. R. at 987-992, 995-996, 997-998, 999-1013. Attached as Addendum "H." Mr. Malencik testified as follows:

BY MR. RICHARDS:

Q. When you issued the violation for the erosion, did you believe, in your opinion, that Hidden Valley had minimized erosion to the extent practical?

A. They took some steps, but in my opinion, they didn't do enough to minimize erosion.

\* \* \* \* \*

Q. . . . . What happens if erosion isn't curtailed or prevented?

A. You'll erode -- in this particular case two things will happen: One, you have a limited amount of soil so what you're doing is minimizing the chance for vegetal cover that would help ameliorate the erosion problem; the second, this road that's left here, and so you're going to have head cutting back into this road; and the third thing is this particular channel, erosion channel is going

---

<sup>8</sup> On page 2 of its Brief, Hidden Valley contends that the Division introduced no evidence that the Diversions were unstable. In support of this argument, Hidden Valley points to testimony of its consultant that the water bars on the access road were stable. Hidden Valley's emphasis on the stability of the water bars is irrelevant. The NOV was not written because the water bars were unstable, but written because three specific gullies were eroding the outslope of the access road. The testimony was conclusive that the gullies were continuing to erode, and therefore were unstable. R. at 987-992, 995-996, and 999-1013.

to continually get deeper until it hits something that is not as susceptible to erosion like bedrock; and the third thing -- the fourth thing, you're putting sediment in Ivie Creek --

R. at 998. Attached as Addendum "H." Mr. Malencik testified about erosion gully number one as follows:

Q. What does picture five and six - what's a picture of five and six? Is that gully number one?

A. Yes.

\* \* \* \* \*

Q. And what does that picture demonstrate to you?

A. It shows that both banks are unstable. It shows the depth of that gully is 26 -- approximately 26 inches deep, 58 inches wide, and I've measured the length of that gully as 19 feet.

\* \* \* \* \*

Q. Once again, is this accelerated or geologic erosion?

A. It's accelerated erosion.

Q. If left untreated what will happen to that road?

A. It will keep eroding down until it hits bedrock or until it reaches an equilibrium with the channel where it's discharging.

Q. Is it undercutting the road?

A. Yes. That's why they placed the rock to stop the head cut.

Q. Is it transporting sediment?

A. Yes.

R. at 1000-1001. Attached as Addendum "H."

Mr. Malencik testified about the second erosion gully as follows:

Q. Are these pictures taken of gully number two as marked on your map?

A. Yes.

Q. What do they show?

A. Top photo shows a gully that's about 57 inches deep, 82 inches wide and about 50 feet long.

Q. Is that continuing to erode?

A. Yes. And you can see where I have my hand, there's a large boulder and that boulder is starting to be -- or a rock and that rock is starting to undercut and lower on the lower photo.

\* \* \* \* \*

Q. Is this accelerated erosion?

A. Yes.

Q. Continues to erode?

A. Yes.

\* \* \* \* \*

Q. Is this road being undercut by the erosional process?

A. It will eventually be. As you can see, this rock, its starting to make a head cut up the channel.

Q. Is it transporting sediment?

A. Yes.

Q. Where's it being transported to?

A. Ephemeral channel, then to Ivie Creek and then to the Colorado River system.

R. at 1004-1006. Attached as Addendum "H."

Mr. Malencik's testified similarly about the third erosion gully:

Q. Let's turn to pictures nine and ten. Are those pictures of gully three as marked on your map?

A. Yes.

Q. Why is this gully eroding?

A. Same reason. The gully number two is eroding.

Q. Is this accelerated or natural erosion?

A. Accelerated.

Q. Is the erosion increased because of the surface disturbances caused by Hidden Valley?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you take measurement of these gullies?

A. Yes, 54 inches deep, 79 inches wide, and about 50 feet long.

Q. It's continuing to erode?

A. Yes.

Q. What will happen if the erosion's left untreated.

A. Same as gully number two.

Q. Road undercut?

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